At the Regular Meeting of the Town Council, held on December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023 at the Town of Eaton Office Building, 35 Cedar Street, Morrisville, New York, there were present:

Joseph Wicks, Supervisor Jeff Golley, Councilperson Dave Verne, Councilperson Stephen Dickerson, Councilperson Jean Hilts, Councilperson Dean Curtis, Town Clerk Pam Locke, Deputy Town Clerk Larry Phillips, Highway Superintendent

Also present: Meg Lee & Kyle Crawford (Liberty Renewals), John Stevens, Celeste Amaral, Don Bigelow, Jamie Benedict, Clyde Benedict

The Meeting opened at 6:00 pm with the Pledge of Allegiance.

The minutes of the November 14<sup>th</sup> 2023 Regular Meeting were reviewed. Motion by Councilperson Hilts to accept the minutes as submitted. Second by Councilperson Dickerson. All ayes. Motion carried.

Motion by Councilperson Verne to recess Regular Meeting at 6:05 and open Public Hearing for Local Law 4 -2023 ("A Local Law Amending Chapter 120 of the Town of Eaton Code to Regulate Commercial Wind Energy Facilities within the Town of Eaton") Second by Councilperson Golley. All Ayes. Motion carried.

### **PUBLIC HEARING:**

At 6:05 pm, Supervisor Wicks recessed the Regular Meeting and opened the Public Hearing for the Proposed Wind Law. Supervisor Wicks reviewed the Local Law 4-2023 with the Board.

Meg Lee from Liberty Renewables brought the attached written statement showing proposed amendments that Hoffman Falls LLC, a subsidiary of Liberty Renewables would like on record pertaining to our Local Law 4-2023.



ATTORNEYS AT LAW

EXECUTIVE WOODS, FIVE PALISADES DRIVE, ALBANY, NY 12205 Phone: 518-438-9907 • Fax: 518-438-9914

www.youngsommer.com

Writer's Telephone: 272 jklami@youngsommer.com Town of Eaton Town Board 35 Cedar Street P.O. Box 66 Morrisville, NY 13408

### Re: Hoffman Falls Wind Project, Comments on Proposed Wind Law

Dear Town Board,

Hoffman Falls LLC, a subsidiary of Liberty Renewables, Inc. ("Applicant") is proposing to construct and operate the Hoffman Falls Wind Project ("Facility" or "Project") an approximately 100-megawatt ("MW") wind powered electric generating facility in the Towns of Fenner, Nelson, Eaton, and Smithfield in Madison, County, New York. The proposed Facility will include the installation and operation of up to 24 wind turbines together with the associated electrical collection lines (below ground), access roads, meteorological tower, aircraft detection light systems ("ADLS"), operation and maintenance ("O&M") facility, concrete batch plant, and collector substation. The Applicant will also construct a new point of interconnect ("POI") substation and 115-kV high-voltage loop-in and loop-out transmission lines ("Interconnection Facilities") adjacent to its collector substation. Upon completion, the ownership of these Interconnection Facilities will be transferred to National Grid.

As we understand, the Town Board is currently considering repealing its current Commercial Wind Energy Facilities Regulations, which it passed in 2011 (Local Law #1 of 2011) and replacing that law with a new "Local Law Amending Chapter 120 of the Town of Eaton Code to Regulate Commercial Wind Energy Facilities within the Town of Eaton" (proposed Local Law #4 of 2023). We have reviewed the Town of Eaton's proposed Commercial Wind Energy Facilities Law (hereinafter referred to as the proposed law) and would like to offer the following comments. In general, we support the Town's efforts, and want to encourage the Town to propose a reasonable local law which balances local landowners' rights to use their land for wind energy development with limited restrictions intended to protect residents and properties not participating in a wind project. With that objective in mind, there are a few areas where we believe revisions would improve the Town's proposal in terms of clarity, consistency with New York State standards and practices, and feasibility of implementation for large-scale wind projects.

It is important that the wind siting standards imposed in the new law consider the impact of these standards on project siting throughout the Town as well as the context of the local law considering the state siting and permitting authority under Section 94-c of the Executive Law ("94-c Process"). Standards that unnecessarily restrict developable areas on parcels within the Town may create the unintended consequence of a ban on large scale (utility) wind projects. For example, unnecessarily large setbacks severely limit the availability of land in the Town where wind projects can be built.

The Hoffman Falls Wind Project will be submitting its permit application to the Office of Renewable Energy Siting ("ORES") pursuant to Section 94-c. ORES may elect not to apply, in whole or in part, any local law or ordinance which would otherwise be applicable, if as applied to the proposed facility, the law is unreasonably burdensome in view

### Town of Eaton, NY

#### Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting

of the Climate Leadership and Community Protection Act ("CLCPA") targets and environmental benefits of the proposed facility or are inconsistent with the requirements of 19 NYCRR § 900.6, the State's uniform standards and conditions for renewable energy projects. Therefore, local laws and ordinances must be reasonable and not unnecessarily restrict development of wind facilities, which are essential to the State meeting its CLCPA goals. We encourage the Town, where possible, to adopt standards that are consistent with the standards under Section 94-c. Aligning with the State standards reduces confusion during the application and siting process, minimizes the potential for disputes, and allows the Town to focus on local issues rather than spending resources developing standards that already exist at the State level.

Below, the Applicant has identified substantive provisions of the proposed law which if enacted as currently drafted would require a waiver from ORES, as the provisions would be unreasonably burdensome on the Facility. The Applicant has also offered suggestions on how the proposed law could be modified to address the Town's concerns while still encouraging wind energy development, like the Hoffman Falls Wind Project.

### **Comments/Suggestions**

### **Property Line Setbacks**

Section 120-23.15(G)(1)(a) of the proposed law states:

"No WECS shall be allowed within the following setbacks. If more than one setback applies, the most restrictive setback shall prevail.

- (a) From property lines. A minimum distance of 2.0 times the Total Height of turbine (including blades) from any non-participant's property line, excluding adjoining lot lines of the project participants.
- (b) From public road and highways. A minimum distance of 2.0 times the Total Height of turbine (including blades), from any public road and highway."

These setbacks are more restrictive than the setbacks contained in the 94-c regulations, which require a setback of 1.1 times to non-participating property lines and public roads and is also more restrictive than setbacks applied to other wind energy facilities in the State which have been permitted and are operating safely. Siting constraints such as landowner participation, resource availability, waking effects, sound and shadow flicker minimization, presence of wetlands, presence of cultural resources, and parcel shape and location will require that turbines are sited closer than 2.0 times the turbine height to non-participating parcel boundaries and public roads. In total these constraints constrict the available footprint within which a turbine may be placed on any given parcel, and a setback of 2.0 times would severally limit where turbines could be placed in the Town, potentially even eliminating turbines from the Town completely. We therefore encourage the Town to consider adopting a more reasonable setback of 1.1 times to non-participating property lines and public roads in line with the requirements of 94-c. If not, the Applicant will need to seek a waiver of these provisions from ORES.

### **Construction Hours**

Section 120-23.15 (D)(16) of the proposed law states "Construction of the WECS shall be limited to the hours of 7 AM to 7 PM, Monday through Friday."

This restriction precludes construction on weekends and does not contain any provisions for exceptions to these restrictions, which are necessary especially for wind turbine erection activities. Therefore, the Applicant will need to seek a waiver of this provision if enacted by the Town Board. These restrictions are unreasonably burdensome for wind projects as it will delay construction, cause construction of the Facility to disrupt the community for longer and may ultimately impact the Facility's ability to provide energy in a timely manner to the energy consumers of New York. It is typical in the industry to conduct construction work at turbine sites during early morning and night hours to take advantage of cooler temperatures and low wind speeds. The low wind speeds are especially important when performing wind turbine erection activities (i.e., tower section, nacelle/hub, and blade installation) because, due to safety concerns, tower sections and blades cannot be installed during high wind conditions. In addition, pouring concrete is dependent on temperature, so this activity could be shifted to early morning depending on forecasted temperatures. As required under Section

### Town of Eaton, NY

### Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting

94-c (19 NYCRR § 900-6.4(a)), if such activities must occur outside the construction hours, the Applicant would notify the New York State Department of Public Service (NYSDPS), ORES, affected landowners, and the town(s) at least 24 hours in advance of such activities. In addition, turbine deliveries must be coordinated with NYSDOT and State Police, and delivery of turbines is likely to occur in the late afternoon, making the need to work past 7 pm of utmost importance. We therefore encourage the Town to consider adopting the construction hours consistent with 94-c which requires:

a) *Construction Hours*. Construction and routine maintenance activities on the facility shall be limited to 7 a.m. to 8 p.m. Monday through Saturday and 8 a.m. to 8 p.m. on Sunday and national holidays, with the exception of construction and delivery activities, which may occur during extended hours beyond this schedule on an as-needed basis.

1. Construction work hour limits apply to facility construction, maintenance, and to construction- related activities, including maintenance and repairs of construction equipment at outdoor locations, large vehicles idling for extended periods at roadside locations, and related disturbances. This condition shall not apply to vehicles used for transporting construction or maintenance workers, small equipment, and tools used at the facility site for construction or maintenance activities.

2. If, due to safety or continuous operation requirements, construction activities are required to occur beyond the allowable work hours, the permittee shall notify the NYSDPS, ORES, affected landowners and the municipalities. Such notice shall be given at least twenty-four (24) hours in advance, unless such construction activities are required to address emergency situations threatening personal injury, property, or severe adverse environmental impact that arise less than twenty-four (24) hours in advance. In such cases, as much advance notice as is practical shall be provided.

### Decommissioning

Section 120-23.15 (I)(3)(d) of the proposed law states:

"The [decommissioning] plan shall include provisions for financial security to secure completion of decommissioning (removal of non-functional towers and appurtenant facilities) and site restoration. The applicant, or successors, shall continuously maintain a fund payable to the Town of Eaton, in a form approved by the Town Attorney, and in an amount to be determined by the Town Board for the period of the life of the facility. This fund shall be no less than 150% of the cost of full decommissioning (including salvage value) and restoration in the form of cash on deposit with the Town or cash held in escrow in a New York licensed-financial institution, pursuant to an agreement acceptable to the Town. All decommissioning funding requirements shall be met prior to commencement of construction."

As part of the 94-c process, the Applicant will prepare a Decommissioning and Site Restoration Plan for site restoration in accordance with 19 NYCRR § 900-2.24 and § 900-6.6, which will include plans for removal of turbines in the event of abandonment and will include a net decommissioning and site restoration estimate to be allocated between the Towns based on the estimated costs associated with removal and restoration of the facilities within each Town. With respect to the decommissioning amount, the Town's requirement for decommissioning security exceeds the ORES requirement for decommissioning by 35%, this would cause the decommissioning estimate to overestimate costs, causing additional costs to the Facility in the form of the financial security, which creates a financial disincentive with little to no actual benefit to the community. ORES has determined that "a 15% contingency is reasonable based on careful consideration of the best practices for

# Town of Eaton, NYTown Council Regular Monthly MeetingDecember 12th, 2023

siting renewable energy projects."<sup>1</sup> There is no basis to require more for this Project. In addition, this requirement does not allow an offset for salvage value, however it is common industry practice to offset decommissioning with salvage value, as history shows that scrap metal always maintains some value. Excluding salvage value would therefore also result in an overestimate of decommissioning costs. As such the Applicant would need to seek a waiver of these provisions, and suggest instead that the Town could adopt a 15% contingency and allow for salvage value as permitted under 94-c.

### Made in America Requirements

Section 120-23.15 (S) of the proposed law states: "All WECS shall be required to utilize components and materials made and manufactured in the United States of America."

The proposed local law does not include a definition of what components must be made in America, and it is therefore assumed that all components of the wind turbine including but not limited to the turbine tower, turbine foundation, nacelle, hub, rotor blades, transformer, power and braking systems, and all electrical equipment, must utilize parts made in America. The wind turbine industry relies on a global supply chain for components such as wind turbine blades, generators, and control systems. While some components may be manufactured in the United States, many of these components are specialized and require advanced manufacturing that is only available outside of the United States. As of 2022 only one of the top 10 wind turbine manufacturers in the world was headquartered in the United States, the other nine are located throughout Europe and China. Even GE, which is headquartered in Boston, relies on parts manufactured in other countries. As such the Applicant would need to seek a waiver of this provision. The Applicant suggest a more reasonable and clear provision would be to require that applicants use commercially reasonable efforts to source and procure components, materials, equipment, spare parts and other items necessary to construct the Facility from manufacturing facilities located in New York State and utilize materials and equipment that uses iron and steel produced by steel mills within the United States. This is what NYSERDA requires for power contracts and would still encourage applicants to source materials from New York and the United States if commercially reasonable and available.

### **Miscellaneous Comments**

The Applicant notes that there are also multiple provisions in the proposed local law for various financial securities (i.e., SWPPP security and road repair bond) and fees (i.e., application and permit fees). These provisions are procedural and supplanted by 94-c. However, the Applicant would note for the Town that pursuant to 19 NYCRR § 900-5, the Applicant will submit with the 94-c Application \$1,000 dollars for each MW of capacity for local agencies and potential community intervenors. Any local agency or potential community intervenor can submit a request to the Office for funding within thirty (30) days of the date of the application filing. By regulation, 75% of the local agency account funds shall be reserved for local agencies such as the Town. The Applicant will also work with the Town to enter into a reasonable Road Use Agreement to address the use and repair of Town Roads as a result of construction of the Facility.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> ORES Assessment of Public Comments on Title 19 of NYCRR Part 900 at page 102.

### Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting

### December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023

As noted above, we appreciate the Town's consideration of these comments and the proposed edits to the law and look forward to working with the Town to develop siting criteria which addresses both the Town's interest in promoting reasonable siting constraints as well as encouraging a potentially economically beneficial use in the Town.

Sincere Jessica nsen Klami

James A. Muscato, II Young/Sommer LLC Attorneys for Liberty Renewables, Inc.

With all persons being heard for or against, at 6:18 pm Supervisor Wicks recessed the Public Hearing and continued the regular meeting. Motion by Councilperson Hilts to close Public Hearing and continue with Regular Town Board Meeting. Second by Councilperson Golley. All Ayes. Motion Carried

### PUBLIC COMMENT:

Celeste Amaral discussed the dog situation around the lakes. Wanted to inform the board that while walking along the lakes was enjoyable, certain parts are stressful because the dogs neighboring the lakes are not on a leash and doesn't always seem safe even though the dogs are within an electric fence, inquired about the Town Leash Law.

Don Bigelow gave updates on the Lake Algae situation, Beaver trapping update and discussed how they will be sampling the culverts during heavy rain to see what exactly is being run off and into the lakes.

Jamie and Clyde Benedict brought concerns from Candy Lane Trailer Park to the Town's attention on Tenants not licensing their dogs. Mentioned that Department of Health requires all Ferrets, Cats and Dogs to have rabies vaccinations. It was mentioned that the Town follows Ag & Markets recommendations and we only require the residents within the Town of Eaton/Village of Morrisville to License their dogs, we do not police or monitor rabies vaccinations. Supervisor Wicks stated that he is in direct contact with our Town Attorney on this topic and will follow up with Jamie and Clyde.

# CODES OFFICER REPORT:

### Town of Eaton Codes Officer Report 11/1/2023 - 11/30/2023

Туре	Date	Comment	Name	Fee
Building Permit	11/06/2023	#57-23 4127 Pratts Rd	Crane, Mark	\$530
Build Perm				
Renewal	11/03/2023	#69-22 3263 Westland Dr	Maury, Crystal	\$50.00
Septic Permit	11/15/2023	#58-23 2580 State Rt 26	Christian Family	\$110
		Total		\$690

# **TOWN CLERKS REPORT:**

- Registrar for .gov Unfortunately there is domain freeze in place. They are pausing requests for new .gov domains from October 2023 until January 2024
- Tax warrant sent to County
- Dog license renewal policy similar to Town of Hamilton, Town of Caz Notice to Comply prior to Citations
- Several Towns are still looking to do a Madison County Wide Dog Enumeration, Fenner, Hamilton, Cazenovia, Eaton, Etc.,

### **HIGHWAY REPORT:**

- Hamilton Hill project and Carey Rd pipes were installed
- Signed updated contract for next Dump Truck Final price \$330,430.03
- Fuel management system to be installed 12/13/2023
- Received insurance quote for salt dome. Need to look into the coverage
- Asked Town Board for permission to order the next truck. This will be the 3rd truck ordered
- Emphasized the need for new pick-up trucks as the two they currently have are worn out
- Brendyn Chapman's Internship is going to finish on Friday 12/15/2023

### SUPERVISOR REPORT:

Motion by Councilperson Golley to accept the Supervisor Report. Second by Councilperson Verne. All Ayes. Motion Carried.

Bids for Siding of Town Building - Thinking Charcoal Grey in Color.

### NEW BUSINESS:

Motion by Councilperson Golley to adopt "A Local Law 4-2023 ("A Local law amending Chapter 120 of the Town of Eaton Code to regulate Commercial Wind Energy Facilities within the Town of Eaton" Second by Councilperson Dickerson.

### Roll Call

Jeff Golley Yes, Dave Verne Yes, Joseph Wicks Yes, Stephen Dickerson Yes, Jean Hilts Yes. All Ayes. Motion Carried

### TOWN OF EATON TOWN BOARD RESOLUTION

### December 12, 2023

### TOWN OF EATON LOCAL LAW NO. 4 OF 2023

("A Local Law Amending Chapter 120 of the Town of Eaton Code to Regulate Commercial Wind Energy Facilities within the Town of Eaton") Councilperson Golley, to wit:

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Home Rule Law, a proposed local law titled Local Law No. 4 of 2023 amending Chapter 120 of the Town of Eaton Code to regulate commercial wind energy facilities within the Town of Eaton, which will result in the repeal of existing regulations set forth in Article VC of Chapter 120 of the Town Code and the adoption of new regulations which are intended to preserve the health, safety and welfare of the Town while also facilitating the production of renewable energy, was presented and introduced at a regular meeting of the Town Board of the Town of Eaton held on November 14, 2023; and

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on such proposed Local Law on the 12th day of December, 2023 by the Town Board of the Town of Eaton and proof of publication of notice of such public hearing, as required by law, having been submitted and filed, and all persons desiring to be heard in connection with said proposed Local Law having been heard, and said proposed Local Law having been in the possession of the members of the Town Board of the Town of Eaton in its final form in the manner required by Section 20 of the Municipal Home Rule of the State of New York; and

WHEREAS, at its November 14, 2023, meeting this Board determined that the enactment of Proposed Local Law No. 4 of 2023 is a Type I action that there are no other involved agencies, that this Board will act as lead agency for this application and further, rendered a negative declaration for purposes of SEQR; and

WHEREAS, a General Municipal Law 239 Referral Notice was duly sent to the Madison County Planning Department (MCPB) and, by referral # 164-23, dated December 11<sup>th</sup>, 2023, the Madison County Planning Department concluded that the referral will have no significant adverse inter-community or countywide implications, and indicated a determination on the proposed Local Law could be made by the Town of Eaton Town Board on a local basis; and

WHEREAS, it is in the public interest to enact said Proposed Local Law No. 4 of 2023.

### NOW, THEREFORE, it is

Local Law No. 4 of 2023, as follows:

### "TOWN OF EATON LOCAL LAW NO. 4 of 2023

### A LOCAL LAW AMENDING CHAPTER 120 OF THE TOWN OF EATON CODE TO REGULATE COMMERCIAL WIND ENERGY FACILITIES WITHIN THE TOWN OF EATON

Be it enacted by the Town Board of the Town of Eaton as follows:

### SECTION 1. PURPOSE AND INTENT.

The purpose of this Local Law is to amend the Town of Eaton Land Use Regulations to permit and regulate the construct of wind energy facilities in the Town of Eaton in a manner that preserves the health, safety and welfare of the Town while also facilitating the production of renewable energy.

### SECTION 2. AUTHORITY.

The Town Board of the Town of Eaton hereby enacts this Local Law under the authority granted by: Article IX of the New York State Constitution, Section (2)(c) (6) and (10); New York Statute of Local Governments, Section 10(1) and (7); New York Municipal Home Rule Law, Section 10(1)(i) and (ii) and Section 10(1)(a)(6), (11), (12), and (14); New York Town Law Section 130, Subsections(1) (Building Code), (3)(Electrical Code), (5)(Fire Prevention), (7) (Use of Streets and Highway), (7-a)(Location of Driveways), (11)(Peace, Good Order, and Safety), (15)(Promotion of Public Welfare), (15-a)(Excavated Lands), (16)(Unsafe Buildings), (19)(Trespass), and (25) (Building Lines); New York Town Law Sections 64(7-a) (Protection of Aesthetic Interests) and 23 (General Powers); the State Environmental Quality Review Act ("SEQRA"); New York Agricultural and Markets Law; New York Real Property Tax Law; and New York Executive Law.

# SECTION 3. REPEAL OF ARTICLE VC OF CHAPTER 120 OF THE TOWN OF EATON CODE

Article VC of Chapter 120 of the Town of Eaton Land Use Law, titled "Commercial Wind Energy Facilities Regulations of the Town of Eaton," is hereby repealed in its entirety and replaced with the following:

"Article VC Commercial Wind Energy Facilities

Section 120-23.12 Title.

The provisions of this Article shall be referred to as the "Commercial Wind Energy Facilities Regulations of the Town of Eaton."

Section 120-23.12 Purpose and Intent.

The Town of Eaton recognizes that wind energy is a clean, perpetually available renewable energy source. Development of wind energy facilities offers an energy source that may reduce fossil fuel emissions. The Town of Eaton has determined that comprehensive regulations regarding the development of wind energy facilities are necessary to protect the interests of the Town, its residents, and businesses. This Article is intended to promote the effective and efficient use of wind energy facilities; establish provisions for the placement, design,

### Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting

### **December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023**

construction, operation and removal of such facilities in order to uphold the public health, safety, and welfare, allow for the co-location of wind energy facilities within active farming and agricultural lands in a manner that preserves the rural character of the Town of Eaton; to ensure that such facilities will not have a significant adverse impact on the aesthetic qualities and maintain the rural character of the Town. The Town, when appropriate, shall promote the location of smaller wind energy facilities in multiple locations to further mitigate impacts from such larger projects. Further, the Town of Eaton wishes to enhance agricultural viability within the Town and preserve productive agricultural land resources, mitigate the impacts of wind energy facilities on environmental resources such as important agricultural lands, forests, wildlife, and other protected resources. The Town of Eaton through this Article recognizes that such uses in the Town may, in some instances, represent large disturbances of lands, the hosting of complex equipment and the need to assure that such projects and property are removed or disposed of at the time of the discontinuance, while minimizing impacts to local roads and nearby property values and avoiding financial burdens on taxpayers.

Section 120-23.12 Findings.

- A. The Town hereby finds wind energy is an abundant, renewable, and nonpolluting energy resource of the Town and its conversion to electricity may reduce dependence on nonrenewable energy sources and decrease the air and water pollution that result from the use of conventional energy sources.
- B. The generation of electricity from properly sited wind turbines supported by governmental subsidies, including small systems, can be cost effective, and in many cases existing power distribution systems can be used to transmit electricity from wind-generating stations to utilities or other users, or energy consumption at that location can be reduced.
- C. Regulation of the siting and installation of wind turbines is necessary for the purpose of protecting the health, safety, and welfare of neighboring property owners and the general public.
- D. Wind Energy Facilities may present significant potential aesthetic impacts because of their large size, lighting, and shadow flicker effects, if not properly sited.
- E. If not properly regulated, installation of Wind Energy Facilities may create drainage problems through erosion and lack of sediment control for facility and access road sites, and harm farmlands through improper construction methods.
- F. Wind Energy Facilities may present a risk to bird and bat populations if not properly sited.
- G. If not properly sited, Wind Energy Facilities may present risks to the property values of adjoining property owners.
- H. Wind Energy Facilities can be a significant source of noise, which, if not regulated, may negatively impact adjoining properties.
- I. Without proper planning, construction of Wind Energy Facilities may create traffic problems and damage local roads.
- J. If improperly sited, Wind Energy Facilities may interfere with various types of communications.
- K. The Town of Eaton is a rural community featuring significant quantities of open land with varying elevation and topography.

- Town of Eaton, NYTown Council Regular Monthly MeetingDecember 12th, 2023L.The Town of Eaton is an agricultural community supporting varied agricultural, forestry and<br/>recreational uses. Town of Eaton residents and visitors enjoy outdoor activities, including hunting,<br/>fishing, trapping, hiking, cycling, horseback riding, snowmobiling, skiing, jogging, and other<br/>motorized and non-motorized recreational pursuits.
- M. The Town of Eaton has very few tall structures.
- N. The Town of Eaton is bound in all directions by towns which share similar agricultural, forested, and rural residential character, with similar topography.
- O. As a matter of public policy, Wind Energy Facilities must be removed and the sites remediated when the facilities are no longer used.

Section 120-23.13 Applicability.

This Article shall apply to all Wind Energy Facilities in the Town of Eaton which are installed or modified after the effective date of this Article, including any Wind Energy Conversion System or Small Wind Energy Conversion System, applied for but not yet approved prior to the date of this Section. All Wind Energy Facilities which are installed or modified after the effective date of this Section shall be in compliance with all of the provisions hereof. Any proposed Wind Energy Facility subject to review by the New York State Board on Electric Generation Siting and the Environment pursuant to Article 10 of the New York State Public Service Law, or the Office of Renewable Energy Siting pursuant to Article 94-c of the New York State Executive Law or any subsequent law, shall be subject to all substantive provisions of this Article 11 and any other applicable provisions of the Town of Eaton Land Use Regulations and applicable local laws.

Section 120-23.14 Definitions.

As used in this Article, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

**APPLICANT** – The person or entity filing an application and seeking a special use permit or site plan approval or other approval required by the Town under this Article.

**A-WEIGHTED** (**dBA**) – The unit of measure for the human response to noise using an electronic filter as specified by ANSI approximating the frequency response of the human ear from 20 Hz to 20 kHz.

**BACKGROUND NOISE** – The noise level represented without the wind turbine(s) operating and when man-made and natural intrusive sounds are at a minimum. The intent of this definition is to exclude noise level contributions from intermittent noises such as traffic and emergency vehicles, and from seasonal natural sounds that are not present year-round.

**BLADE GLINT** – The intermittent reflection of the sum off the surface of the blades of a single or multiple wind turbines.

BUILDING – Any structure used or intended for supporting any use or occupancy.

C-WEIGHTED (dBC) – An electronic filter with a band-pass frequency response 20Hz to 20 kHz.

**DAYTIME -** Hours from 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., unless otherwise noted.

Town of Eaton, NYTown Council Regular Monthly MeetingDecember 12th, 2023DEBRIS HAZARD – Hazard owing to the possibility that the parts of a Wind Turbine, or material (ice or other debris) accumulated on its rotating elements, could be dislodged and fall or be thrown some distance onto surrounding property.December 12th, 2023

EXCESSIVE NOISE - Any noise that causes a nuisance or disturbance or degrades health or well-being.

FAA – The Federal Aviation Administration.

**FREQUENCY** - The number of occurrences of a repeating event per unit time; in cycles per second, expressed in Hz (Hertz).

HERTZ (Hz) - A unit of frequency equal to one cycle per second.

**LDN** – The day/night level is the 24-hour average of continuous "A-weighted" sound energy having a 10-decibel penalty added to the nighttime hours of 10 p.m. to 7 a.m.

**LEQ** – The equivalent continuous sound level that has the same acoustic energy for a constant sound level as for a fluctuating or intermittent level in the same period of time.

**NIGHTTIME -** Hours from 7:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m., unless otherwise noted.

**NOISE** - Unwanted or any sound that is not part of the natural environment.

**NOISE EMITTER -** Any man-made piece of WECS equipment that is audible beyond the property line of a Participant Landowner.

NOISE LEVEL - Energy-equivalent sound pressure level (Leq) over a minimum of a ten-minute interval.

**NON-PARTICIPANT** - Any and all Town of Eaton landowners having no contractual relationship with a wind developer.

**OCTAVE BAND** - A band of sound covering a range of frequencies such that the highest is twice the lowest, as defined in ANSI Standard S1.11.

**ONE-THIRD OCTAVE BAND** - A band of sound covering a range of frequencies such that the highest frequency is the cube root of two times the lowest, as defined in ANSI Standard S1.11.

**PARTICIPANT** - Any and all Town of Eaton landowners having a signed lease, or easement with a wind developer.

**PROJECT BOUNDARY -** A continuous line, which encompasses all Wind Turbines and related equipment to be used in association with a Wind Energy System.

**PROPERTY LINE** - Means the recognized and survey or tax mapped property parcel boundary line.

PURE TONE - Sinusoidal sound energy for a single frequency or pitch.

**QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT ACOUSTICAL CONSULTANT** - A person who is qualified by education and experience in acoustics and regularly engaged in community noise testing with demonstrated competence in the specialty of community noise testing who is contracted by the Town for purposes of

Town of Eaton, NYTown Council Regular Monthly MeetingDecember 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023noise measurement or evaluation of noise analysis or noise complaints. The Qualified IndependentAcoustical Consultant can have no financial relationship with the Wind developer or related entity.

**RESIDENCE** - Any dwelling suitable for habitation existing in the Town of Eaton on the date an application is received. For purpose of this definition, "suitable for habitation" shall mean that its primary purpose is for private occupancy.

**SEQRA** - The New York State Environmental Quality Review Act, as codified in Article 8 of the New York State Environmental Conservation Law and its implementing regulations in Title 6 of the Official Compilation of Codes, Rules and Regulations of the State of New York, Part 617 et seq. (6 NYCRR Section 617).

**SETBACKS** - A distance measured from the edge of a rural right-of-way, property lines, wetlands, or closest point of residence foundation to the base of the turbine or measurement tower.

**SHADOW FLICKER** - the visual effect of viewing the moving shadow of the Wind Energy Conversion System (WECS) rotor blades when they are in a position between the receptor (person viewing them) and the sun and/or the "strobe" lighting effect of this condition as perceived by the receptor whether directly or indirectly (as in a reflection off a light-colored wall).

**SOUND LEVEL** - The weighted sound pressure level obtained by a sound level meter and frequency weighting network, such as A, B, or C as specified in ANSI specifications for sound level meters (ANSI SI.4-1971, or the latest revision).

**SOUND POWER LEVEL -** Lw. Ten (10) times the logarithm to the base ten of the ratio of the sound power radiated by the source to a reference sound power, expressed in decibels (dB). The reference sound power is 1 picowatt (pW).

**SOUND PRESSURE LEVEL** - Lp. Twenty (20) times the logarithm to the base ten (10) of the ratio of a given sound pressure to a reference sound pressure of 20 microPascals (uPa), expressed in decibels (dB).

**TOTAL HEIGHT** - The height of the Tower from the finished ground elevation at the base of the Tower to the furthest vertical/extension of the Turbine Rotor Plane.

**TOWER HEIGHT** - The height of the tower from the finished ground elevation at the tower base to the center of the hub forming the attachment point for Turbine Blades.

UN-WEIGHTED (dBL) - A sound pressure level obtained without a weighting filter.

**USEFUL LIFE** - The period during which an individual Wind Turbine(s) will be presumed to be at the end of its economic life.

**WIND ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEMS (WECS)** - An electricity generating facility, with a generating capacity of over 1 00 kilowatts, consisting of one or more wind turbines, including any substations, cables/wires, and other buildings accessory to such system. Sometimes referred to as a facility.

**WIND ENERGY CONVERSION SYSTEMS, SMALL (SWECS)** - An electricity generating facility, with a generating capacity of up to but not exceeding 100 kilowatts, consisting of one Wind Turbine, including any cables/wires, foundations and other buildings accessory to such system, and designed to produce power primarily for on-site use or consumption.

**WIND TURBINE** – Any tower, pole, or other structure, whether attached to a building, guyed, or freestanding designed to be used for the support of a rotor that consists of blades and a hub, as well as nacelle and generator for producing electricity.

Section 120-23.15 Wind Energy Conversions Systems (WECS).

- A. Permits Required; Transfer; Modifications.
  - (1) Districts where allowed. Subject to the issuance of site plan approval and a special use permit and other requirements as set forth herein, WECS shall be a permitted use in all areas of the Town of Eaton except within the Residential District No. 2 (RD-2). WECS are a prohibited use in the Residential District No. 2.
  - (2) No WECS shall be constructed, reconstructed, modified, or operated in the Town except in compliance with this Article. In the case of any conflict between this Article and any other Town of Eaton law, rule or regulation, this Article shall supersede any conflicting provision.
  - (3) Permits required. No person, firm or corporation, or other entity being the owner, occupant, or lessee of any land or premises within the Town of Eaton shall use or permit the use of land or premises for the construction or installation of a WECS without obtaining a building permit, a special use permit and site plan approval as hereinafter provided. The Planning Board is hereby authorized to review and either approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove applications special permits and site plan approvals for WECS.
  - (4) No Wind Measurement Tower a/k/a Met Tower or LIDAR System shall be constructed, reconstructed, modified, or operated in the Town except pursuant to a special use permit pursuant to this Article.
  - (5) Exemptions. No permit or other approval shall be required under this Section for mechanical, non-electrical WECS utilized solely for agricultural operations, commonly referred to as "windmills".
  - (6) Transfer. No transfer of any WECS or a special use permit granted pursuant to this Article, nor sale of the entity owning such WECS including the sale of more than 30% of the stock of such entity (not counting sales of shares on a public exchange), may occur unless the transferee provides to the Town Board written certification that such transferee assumes all obligations of the transferor under any permit issued pursuant to this Article and any other applicable law or ordinance. Notwithstanding the requirements of this Section, replacement in kind or modification of a WECS may occur without Town Board approval when (1) there will, be no increase in Total Height; (2) no change in the location of the WECS; (3) no additional lighting or change in facility color; and (4) no increase in the noise produced by the WECS.

- B. Required Submissions for an Application.
  - (1) All applications for WECS are required to provide reports and supporting information based on the studies, evaluations, and analyses set forth herein. All studies, evaluations and analysis shall be submitted to and meet the reasonable requirements of the Planning Board before any application shall be deemed complete.
  - (2) An application for a special use permit and site plan approval shall include the following, presented in the following order, unless waived by the Planning Board:
    - (a) Name, address, and telephone number of the applicant. If the applicant is represented by an agent, the application shall include the name, address, and telephone number of the agent as well as an original signature of the applicant authorizing the representation.
    - (b) Name, address, and telephone number of the owners of properties on which the WECS will be located. If the property owner is not the Applicant, the application shall include a letter or other written permission signed by the property owner (i) confirming that the property owner is familiar with the proposed application and (ii) authorizing the submission of the application.
    - (c) Address, or other property identification, of each proposed WECS location, including Tax Map section, block, and lot number.
    - (d) A description of the project, including the number and maximum rated capacity of each WECS.
    - (e) A plot plan prepared by a licensed surveyor or engineer drawn in sufficient detail to clearly describe the following:

i.Property lines and physical dimensions of the project site.

- ii. Location, approximate dimensions, and types of major existing structures and uses on the project site, public roads, and adjoining properties within the setback distances specified in Section 120-23.15(G) of the boundaries of the proposed WECS Site.
- iii. Location and elevation of each proposed WECS.
- iv. Location of all above ground utility lines on the project site or within one radius of the Total Height of the WECS, transformers, power lines, interconnection point with transmission lines, and other ancillary facilities or structures.
- v. Location and size of structures above 35 feet within the setback distances specified in Section 120-23.15(G) of the proposed WECS. For purposes of this requirement, electrical transmission and distribution lines, antennas and slender or open lattice towers are not considered structures.

### Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting

- vi. To demonstrate compliance with the setback requirements, circles drawn around each proposed tower location equal to the setback distances specified in this Article.
- vii. Location of the nearest residential structure located off the proposed site, and the distance from the proposed WECS.
- viii. All proposed facilities, including access roads, electrical lines, substations, storage or maintenance units, and fencing.
- (f) Vertical drawing of the WECS showing Total Height, turbine dimensions, tower and turbine colors, ladders, distance between ground and lowest point of any blade, location of climbing pegs, and access doors. One drawing may be submitted for each WECS of the same type and Total Height.
- (g) Landscaping Plan depicting existing vegetation and describing any areas to be cleared and the specimens proposed to be added, identified by species and size of specimen at installation and their locations.
- (h) Lighting Plan showing any FAA-required lighting and other proposed lighting. The application should include a copy of the determination by the Federal Aviation Administration to establish required markings and/or lights for the structure, but if such determination is not available at the time of the application, no building permit for any lighted facility may be issued until such determination is submitted.
- (i) List of property owners, with their mailing addresses, within 500 feet of the boundaries of the proposed project site. The applicant may delay submitting this list until the Planning Board calls for a public hearing on the application.
- (j) Decommissioning Plan. The applicant shall submit a decommissioning plan, which shall include: 1) the anticipated life of the WECS; 2) the estimated decommissioning costs in current dollars; 3) how said estimate was determined; 4) the method of ensuring that funds will be available for decommissioning and restoration in compliance with these regulations; 5) the method, such as by annual re-estimate by a licensed engineer, that the decommissioning cost will be kept current; and 6) the manner in which the WECS will be decommissioned and the project site restored, which shall include removal of all structures and debris to a depth of three (3) feet, restoration of the soil, and restoration of vegetation (consistent and compatible with surrounding vegetation), less any fencing or residual minor improvements requested by the landowner.
- (k) Complaint Resolution. The application will include a complaint resolution process to address potential complaints from nearby residents. The process may use an independent mediator or arbitrator and shall include a time limit for acting on a complaint. The applicant shall make every reasonable effort to resolve any complaint.
- (l) An application shall include information relating to the construction/installation of the WECS as follows:

- i. A construction schedule describing expected commencement and completion dates; and
- ii. A description of the anticipated routes to be used by construction and delivery vehicles and the gross weights and heights of those loaded vehicles.

(m)Completed Part 1 of the Full Environmental Assessment Form.

- (n) Applications for Wind Measurement Towers under Section 120-23.16 may be jointly submitted with the WECS application.
- (o) For each proposed WECS, include make, model, picture, and manufacturers' specifications, including noise decibels data. Include Manufacturers' Material Safety Data Sheet documentation for the type and quantity of all materials used in the operation of all equipment including, but not limited to, all lubricants and coolants.
- (p) The following studies shall be submitted with the application:
  - i.Shadow Flicker. The applicant shall conduct a study on potential shadow flicker. The study shall identify locations where shadow flicker may be caused by the WECSs and the expected durations of the flicker at these locations. The study shall identify areas where shadow flicker may interfere with residences and describe measures that shall be taken to eliminate or mitigate the problems.
  - ii. Visual Impact. Applications shall include a visual impact study of the proposed WECS as installed, which may include a computerized photographic simulation, demonstrating any visual impacts from strategic vantage points. Color photographs of the proposed project site from at least two locations accurately depicting the existing conditions shall be included. The visual analysis shall also indicate the color treatment of the system's components and any visual screening incorporated into the project that is intended to lessen the system's visual prominence.
  - iii. A fire protection and emergency response plan, c reated in consultation with the fire department(s) having jurisdiction over the proposed project site.
  - Noise Analysis. A noise analysis shall be provided by a competent acoustical consultant documenting the noise levels associated with the proposed WECS. The study shall document noise levels at property lines and at the nearest residence not on the project site (if access to the nearest residence is not available, the Planning Board may modify this requirement). The noise analysis shall include low frequency noise.
  - v. An assessment of potential electromagnetic interference with microwave, radio, television, personal communication systems, and other wireless communication.
  - vi. A soil analysis shall be provided by an independent third-party professional.

# Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting Decemb

- December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023
- (q) The applicant shall, prior to the receipt of a building permit, demonstrate that the proposed facility meets the system reliability requirements of the New York Independent System Operator, or provide proof that it has executed an Interconnection Agreement with the New York Independent System Operator and/or the applicable Transmission Owner.
- (r) A statement, signed under penalties of perjury, that the information contained in the application is true and accurate.
- C. Application Review Process.
  - (1) Applicants may request a pre-application meeting with the Planning Board or with any consultants retained by the Planning Board for application review.
  - (2) Six (6) copies of the application and a complete digital version shall be submitted to the Town Code Enforcement Officer. Payment of all application fees and other fees including engineering, legal and other professional fees shall be made at the time of application submission. In addition, the applicant shall provide the Planning Board with a reasonable number of additional copies necessary to coordinate review with involved agencies and interested parties, pursuant to SEQRA.
  - (3) Upon submission of a complete application, the Town Code Enforcement Officer shall transmit the application to the Planning Board. The Planning Board shall hold at least one public hearing on the application. Notice shall be provided by first-class mail to property owners within one (1) mile of a turbine, and published in the Town's official newspaper, no less than five (5) days before any hearing, but where any hearing is adjourned by the Planning Board to hear additional comments, no further publications or mailing shall be required. The applicant shall prepare and mail the Notice of Public Hearing prepared by the Planning Board and shall submit an affidavit of service. The assessment roll of the Town shall be used to determine mailing addresses.
  - (4) Referral shall also be made, when applicable, to the Madison County Planning Department, pursuant to General Municipal Law Sections 239-1 and 239-m.
  - (5) SEQRA review. Applications for WECS shall be deemed Type 1 projects under SEQRA.
  - (6) The Planning Board shall be responsible for the review of the proposed project under SEQRA, and shall where appropriate, act as lead agency under SEQRA, and shall coordinate its review with all other involved agencies having discretionary approval over any aspect of the proposed project.
  - (7) The Planning Board shall require an escrow agreement for the engineering and legal review of the applications and any environmental impact statements before commencing its review.
  - (8) Upon receipt of the recommendations of the Madison County Planning Department (where applicable), the holding of a public hearing, and the completion of the SEQRA process, the Planning Board may approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application, in accordance with the standards in this Article and applicable Town Laws.

### Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting

- (9) If approved, the Town Planning Board will issue, to the applicant only, a special use permit/site plan approval for each WECS for the purpose of construction and continued operation based on satisfaction of all conditions for said Permit. This authorizes the Code Enforcement Officer to issue a permit for each WECS, upon compliance with any conditions of this Article or approval by the Planning Board.
- (10) If construction of any approved WECS is not substantially commenced within one year of issuance of the permit, the permit shall expire.
- D. Standards for WECS.

In addition to all other applicable criteria, the following criteria are hereby established for purposes of granting a special use permit and site plan approval for a WECS:

- (1) All power transmission lines from the tower to any building or other structure shall be located underground to the maximum extent practicable.
- (2) No television, radio or other communication antennas may be affixed or otherwise made part of any WECS, except pursuant to the Town Code. Applications may be jointly submitted for WECS and telecommunications facilities.
- (3) To minimize any visual impacts associated with WECS, no advertising signs are allowed on any part of the WECS, including fencing and support structures.
- (4) Lighting of tower. No tower shall be lit except to comply with FAA requirements.
- (5) Minimum downward directed security lighting for ground level facilities shall be allowed as approved on the site plan.
- (6) All applicants shall use measures to reduce the visual impact of WECS to the extent possible. WECS shall use tubular towers. All structures in a project shall be finished in a single, non-reflective matte finished white or gray in color. WECS within multiple WECS project shall be constructed using wind turbines whose appearance, with respect to one another, is similar within and throughout the project, to provide reasonable uniformity in overall size, geometry, and rotational speeds. No lettering, company insignia, advertising, or graphics shall be on any part of the tower, hub, or blades.
- (7) The use of guy wires is permitted in connection with small WECS and wind measurement towers only.
- (8) All solid waste and hazardous waste and construction debris shall be removed from the project site and managed in a manner consistent with all appropriate rules and regulations.
- (9) Sign-off from First Responders/Emergency Medical Service providers shall be provided.

# Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023

- (10) WECS shall be designed to minimize the impacts of land clearing and the loss of open space areas. Land protected by conservation easements shall be avoided when feasible. The use of previously developed areas will be given priority wherever possible.
- (11) WECS shall be located in a manner that minimizes significant negative impacts on animal species in the vicinity, particularly bird and bat species, including those that may be listed by the U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service as threatened or endangered and those listed as threatened, endangered, and species of concern by the NYS officials.
- (12) Wind energy conversion systems shall be located in a manner consistent with all applicable state and Federal wetlands laws and regulations. A plan for clearing and/or grading of the site and a storm water pollution prevention plan (SWPPP) for the site. The SWPPP shall be filed and recorded in the Madison County Clerk's Office (indexed against the property) by the applicant following Planning Board approval (prior to commencement of construction) and shall provide for access to the Town of Eaton in the event of a default of the operator's obligations under the SWPPP. The SWPPP shall include a security amount approved by the Town's Consulting Engineer and shall remain in place until decommissioning is complete.
- (13) Storm-water run-off and erosion control shall be managed in a manner consistent with all applicable state and Federal laws and regulations.
- (14) The maximum Total Height of any WECS shall be 680 feet. However, in all instances, the applicant shall be required to demonstrate that the requested height of the WECS is necessary to achieve the project's objectives.
- (15) Any substation used in conjunction with a WECS shall be sited in a manner that will have the least intrusive impact upon adjacent residences and shall be sheltered and/or screened with a physical barrier and/or vegetation in a manner to eliminate its views from such residences. The Planning Board shall assess such siting in accordance with the requirements of this Section and the Town's Comprehensive Plan.
- (16) Construction of the WECS shall be limited to the hours of 7 AM to 7 PM, Monday through Friday.
- (17) In processing any application for a WECS or in reviewing such project under SEQRA, the Planning Board may consider any applicable policy or guidelines issued by the New York State DEC (i.e., visual impacts, noise impact).
- (18) Following construction/installation of the WECS, all disturbed areas where soil has been exposed shall be reseeded with grass and/or planted with low level vegetation capable of preventing soil erosion and airborne dust and demonstrating established growth. The applicant shall provide an Operations and Maintenance Plan which shall include provisions for reseeding and established growth.
- (19) Post-construction/installation certification. Following the construction/ installation of the WECS, the applicant shall provide a post- construction/installation certification from a

### **Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023** professional engineer registered in New York State that the project complies with any and all applicable codes and industry practices and has been constructed and operating according to the drawings and development plan(s) submitted to the Town.

- (20) Any WECS project shall meet and comply with the latest version of the National Electric Code for the life of the project. If it is determined that a WECS is causing stray voltage issues, the operator shall immediately take the necessary corrective action to eliminate these problems including relocation or removal of the facilities, or resolution of the issue with the impacted parties. Failure to remedy stray voltage issues is grounds for revocation of the special use permit for the specific WECS causing the problems. Fines for non-compliance will be set by the Town Board and assessed accordingly.
- (21) To the greatest extent possible WECS, together with all above ground facilities, underground cables and wires, and all permanent access roads shall be positioned along existing fence lines, hedge rows or tree rows and/or as near the edge of any fields as possible to minimize the disruption to pastureland or tillable land unless, otherwise allowed by the property owner(s). Following construction, the site shall be graded and seeded and restored to its preconstruction condition or better unless, otherwise allowed by the property owner(s). During construction, the developer shall be required to act consistent with Agricultural Consistency Review under Agriculture and Markets Law, and best agricultural and forestry practices to ensure construction integrity of the site.
- E. Required Safety Measures.
  - (1) Each WECS shall be equipped with both manual and automatic controls to limit the rotational speed of the rotor blade, so it does not exceed the design limits of the rotor.
  - (2) Appropriate warning signs shall be posted. At least one sign shall be posted at least 100 feet from the base of the tower on the tower access road/route warning of electrical shock or high voltage. A sign shall be posted on the entry area fence around each tower or group of towers and any building (or on the tower or building if there is no fence), containing emergency contact information. The Planning Board may require additional signage based on safety needs.
  - (3) No climbing pegs or tower ladders shall be located closer than 12 feet to the ground level at the base of the structure for freestanding single pole or guyed towers.
  - (4) The minimum distance between the ground and any part of the rotor or blade system shall be 30 feet.
  - (5) WECS shall be designed to prevent unauthorized external access to electrical and mechanical components and shall have access doors that are kept securely locked at all times.
  - (6) Existing snowmobile and/or ATV trails shall be posted, where reasonably necessary, to warn of potential ice throw dangers from the WECS.
- F. Traffic Routes.
  - (1) Construction of WECS pose potential risks because of the large size construction vehicles, hauled materials along with their impact on traffic safety and their physical impact on local roads. Construction and delivery vehicles for WECS and for associated facilities shall use traffic routes

established as part of the application review process. Factors in establishing such corridors shall include:

- (a) minimizing traffic impacts from construction and delivery vehicles, including impacts on local residential areas;
- (b) minimizing WECS related traffic during times of school bus activity;
- (c) minimizing wear and tear on local roads;
- (d) minimizing impacts on local business operations; and
- (e) Special use permit conditions may limit WECS-related traffic to specific routes and include a plan for disseminating traffic route information to the public.
- (2) The applicant is responsible for the repair of all damage to Town roads occurring during the construction or maintenance of a WECS to be addressed in a Road Use Agreement, which shall be a condition precedent to issuance of any WECS permit. A cash security (as determined by the Town Board) shall be posted prior to the issuance of any WECS permit in an amount determined by the Planning Board, sufficient to compensate the Town for any damage to local roads.
- G. Setbacks and Noise Standards for WECS.
  - (1) Setback Requirements. No WECS shall be allowed within the following setbacks. If more than one setback applies, the most restrictive setback shall prevail.
    - (a) From property lines. A minimum distance of 2.0 times the Total Height of turbine (including blades) from any non-participant's property line, excluding adjoining lot lines of the project participants.
    - (b) From public road and highways. A minimum distance of 2.0 times the Total Height of turbine (including blades), from any public road and highway.
    - (c) From public above-ground transmission lines. A minimum distance of 2.0 times the Total Height of turbine (including blades) from any above-ground transmission line greater than 12 kilovolts.
    - (d) From another WECS turbine. A minimum distance of 2.0 times the Total Height of turbine (including blades) from any other turbine. All power transmission lines from the tower to any building or other structure shall be located underground.
  - (2) Noise Level Limits and Measurement.
    - (a) The statistical sound pressure level generated by a WECS shall not exceed L10 50 dBA measured at the nearest residence located off the site. Sites can include more than one parcel of property and the requirement shall apply to the combined properties. If the ambient sound pressure level exceeds 50 dBA, the standard shall be ambient dBA plus five (5) dBA. Independent certification shall be provided before and after construction demonstrating compliance with this requirement.

### Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting

### December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023

- (b) In the event audible noise due to WECS operations contains a steady pure tone, such as a whine, screech, or hum, the standards for audible noise set forth herein shall be reduced by five (5) dBA. A Pure Tone is defined to exist if the 1/3 octave band sound pressure level in the band, including the tone, exceeds the arithmetic average of the sound pressure levels of the two (2) contiguous 1/3 octave bands by five (5) dBA for center frequencies of 500 Hz and above, by eight (8) dBA for center frequencies between 160 Hz and 400 Hz, or by 15 dBA for center frequencies less than or equal to 125 Hz.
- (c) In the event the ambient noise level (exclusive of the development in question) exceeds the applicable standard given above, the applicable standard shall be adjusted so as to equal the ambient noise level. The ambient noise level shall be expressed in terms of the highest whole number sound pressure level in dBA, which is exceeded for more than five minutes per hour. Ambient noise levels shall be measured at the exterior of potentially affected existing residences. Ambient noise level measurement techniques shall employ all practical means of reducing the effect of wind generated noise at the microphone. Ambient noise level measurements may be performed when wind velocities at the proposed project site are sufficient to allow wind turbine operation, provided that the wind velocity does not exceed 30 mph at the ambient noise measurement location.
- (d) Any noise level falling between two (2) whole decibels shall be the lower of the two (2).
- H. Issuance of Special Use Permit and Site Plan.
  - (1) Upon completion of the review process, the Planning Board shall, upon consideration of the standards in this Article, the Town's Comprehensive Plan, and the record of the SEQRA review, issue a written decision with the reasons for approval, conditions of approval or disapproval fully stated.
  - (2) If any approved WECS is not substantially commenced within one (1) year of issuance of the special use permit, the special use permit shall expire.
- I. Decommissioning.
  - (1) If any WECS remains non-functional or inoperative for a continuous period of one (1) year, the applicant agrees that, without any further action by the Town Board, it shall remove said system at its own expense as per paragraph (3) below. This provision shall not apply if the applicant demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the Town Board that it has been making good faith efforts to restore the WECS to an operable condition. Nothing in this provision shall limit the Town Board's ability to order a remedial action plan.
  - (2) Non-function or lack of operation may be proven by reports to the Public Service Commission, NYSERDA or by lack of income generation. The applicant shall make available to a designee (i.e., town engineer, project manager, etc.) appointed by the Town Board, all reports from the purchaser of energy from individual WECS, if requested to prove the WECS is functioning. This designee may also request periodic documentation reporting the power output generated by the WECS.
  - (3) Decommissioning and Site Restoration Plan and Requirements. An application for a WECS permit shall include a decommissioning and site restoration plan containing the information and meeting the requirements in this Article.

### Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023

- (a) The plan shall provide for the removal from the Project Parcels, and lawful disposal or disposition of all Wind Turbines and other structures, hazardous materials, electrical facilities, and all foundations to a depth of not less than 36 inches below grade. The plan shall provide for the removal of all access roads that the owner of the Project Parcels wants removed. The plan shall provide for the restoration of the Project Parcels to farmland or forest land of similar condition to that which existed before construction of the WECS.
- (b) The plan shall provide for the decommissioning of the site upon the expiration or revocation of the WECS permit, or upon the abandonment of the WECS. The WECS shall be deemed abandoned if its operation is ceased for 12 consecutive months. The operator of the facility shall provide a report no later than the 31<sup>st</sup> day of January each year providing a summary report of the operation of the facility during the prior calendar year and its operational status as the immediately preceding 31<sup>st</sup> day of December.
- (c) The Plan shall include: (a) the estimated decommissioning cost in current dollars (such amount being subject to the approval of the Town Board); (b) how said estimate was determined; (c) the method of ensuring that funds will be available for decommissioning and restoration; (d) the method that will be used to keep the decommissioning costs current. The Town Board shall make arrangements to ensure the fund amount is adjusted annually based on a suitable index such as the "Engineering News Report Construction Costs Index" unless the wind developer supplies evidence to the reasonable satisfaction of the Town Board that market conditions have changed.
- (d) The plan shall include provisions for financial security to secure completion of decommissioning (removal of non-functional towers and appurtenant facilities) and site restoration. The applicant, or successors, shall continuously maintain a fund payable to the Town of Eaton, in a form approved by the Town Attorney, and in an amount to be determined by the Town Board for the period of the life of the facility. This fund shall be no less than 150% of the cost of full decommissioning (including salvage value) and restoration in the form of cash on deposit with the Town or cash held in escrow in a New York licensed-financial institution, pursuant to an agreement acceptable to the Town. All decommissioning funding requirements shall be met prior to commencement of construction.
- (e) The plan shall include written authorization from the WECS Permittee and all owners of all Project Parcels for the Town to access the Project Parcels and implement the decommissioning and site restoration plan, in the event the WECS Permittee fails to implement the plan. The written authorization shall be in a form approved by the Town.
- (f) Use of Decommissioning Fund
- i. Any non-functional or inoperative WECS, or any WECS for which the Permit has been revoked, shall be removed from the site and the site restored in accordance with the approved decommissioning and site restoration plan within 120 days of the date on which the facility becomes non-functional or inoperative, as defined above, and weather permitting, or of the revocation of the permit.

### Town of Eaton, NY

Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting

- ii. If removal of the WECS is required and the applicant, permittee, or successor fails to remove the WECS and restore the site in accordance with the approved decommissioning and site restoration plan, the permittee, by accepting the permit, authorizes the Town Board to Contract for such removal and restoration and to pay for the removal and restoration from the posted decommissioning and site restoration fund.
- iii. If the fund is not sufficient, the Town shall charge the permit holder for the costs over and above the amount of the fund.
- J. Insurance.
  - (1) Insurance. The applicant, owner, lessee or assignee shall at all times during construction and operation maintain a current insurance policy which will cover installation and operation of the commercial Wind project and shall be increased annually per industry standards. Said policy shall provide a minimum of \$5,000,000 property and personal liability coverage. Proof of such policy shall be provided to the Town on an annual basis. Notwithstanding any terms, conditions, or provisions in any other writing between the parties, the applicant shall agree to effectuate the naming of the Town as an additional insured on the applicant's insurance policies, with the exception of workers' compensation and NYS disability insurance. The policy naming the Town as an additional insured shall:
    - (a) Be an insurance policy from an A.M. Best rated "secured" or better insurer, authorized to conduct business in New York State. A New York State licensed insurer is preferred.
    - (b) State that the applicant's insurance coverage shall be primary and noncontributory coverage for the Town, its Board, employees, agents, and volunteers.
    - (c) Additional insured status shall be provided by standard or other endorsements that extend coverage to the Town for both on-going and completed operations. A completed copy of the endorsements shall be attached to the certificate of insurance.
    - (d) The applicant shall provide a copy of the declaration page of the liability policies with a list of endorsements and forms. If so requested, the applicant will provide a copy of the policy endorsements and forms.
    - (e) The certificate of insurance shall contain a provision that coverage afforded under the applicable policy shall not be cancelled or terminated until at least 30 days' prior notice has been provided to the Town. In the event of a termination, cancellation, or lapse of the required insurance coverage, the special use permit to operate the wind energy system shall be immediately suspended and operation of the system shall cease. Upon restoration of the required insurance coverage, to the satisfaction of the Town, permission to operate the commercial wind project may be restored.
- K. Limitations on Approvals.
  - (1) Nothing in this Section shall be deemed a guarantee against any future construction or Town approvals of future construction that may in any way impact the wind flow to any Wind Energy

Town of Eaton, NYTown Council Regular Monthly MeetingDecember 12th, 2023Conversion System. It shall be the sole responsibility of the Facility operator, or owner, to acquire any necessary wind flow or turbulence easements, or right to remove vegetation.

- L. Permit Revocation.
  - (1) Testing fund. A permit shall contain a requirement that the applicant fund periodic noise testing by qualified independent third-party acoustical measurement consultant, which permittee shall include in the annual Operation Maintenance and Compliance report required by this Section. The scope of the noise testing shall be to demonstrate compliance with the terms and conditions of the Permit and this Section and shall include an evaluation of any complaints received by the Town. A non-compliant WECS shall be shut down immediately. The applicant shall have 90 days after written notice from the Code Enforcement Officer to cure any deficiency. An extension of the 90-day period may be considered by the Code Enforcement Officer, but the total period may not exceed 180 days.
  - (2) Operation. A WECS shall be maintained in operational condition at all times, subject to reasonable maintenance and repair outages. Operational conditions include meeting all noise requirements and other permit conditions. Should a WECS become inoperable, or should any part of the WECS be damaged, or should a WECS violate a permit condition, it shall be shut down immediately. The owner or operator shall remedy the situation within 90 days after written notice from the Town Code Enforcement Officer. The applicant shall have 90 days after written notice from the Town Code Enforcement Officer to cure any deficiency. The Planning Board may extend the 90-day cure period for good cause shown.
  - (3) Notwithstanding any other abatement provision under this Section, if the WECS is not repaired or made operational or brought into permit compliance after said notice, the Town may, after a public meeting at which the operator or owner shall be given opportunity to be heard and present evidence, including a plan to come into compliance, (1) order either remedial action within a particular timeframe, or (2) order revocation of the special use permit for the WECS and require the removal of the WECS within 90 days. If the WECS is not removed, the Town Board shall have the right to use the security posted as part of the Decommissioning Plan to remove the WECS.
- M. Miscellaneous.
  - (1) WECS Escrow Account. The applicant shall pay to the Town a nonrefundable Application Fee as set by resolution of the Town Board, and shall further establish an Escrow Account. The Town Board and Planning Board reserve the right to obtain engineering, economic impact, environmental impact, or reasonable charges of other reasonable professional services to aid it in the review of any submitted WECS application. These costs are solely the responsibility of the applicant and (and other expenses incurred by the Town) are reimbursable only from the Escrow Account, not the Application Fee.
    - (a) The applicant shall reimburse the Town for all reasonable oversight expenses incurred relating to the WECS, from application through decommissioning.
    - (b) WECS-related reasonable oversight expenses include, but are not limited to, amounts required for Building Permits, Licensing, Re-Licensing, and Decommissioning, *e.g.*, administration, engineering, expert health and wildlife evaluations, handling complaints, legal, etc. "Legal" expenses include reasonable attorney fees for the Town if the Town has to pursue legal action against the applicant.

### Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023

- (c) An Escrow Account will be established at the time of the WECS Application. This Escrow Account will be maintained at a financial institution approved by the Town, solely in the name of the Town, to be managed by the Town Board (or designee). The applicant shall make an initial deposit of \$35,000.00. A WECS Application will not be processed until the deposit is complete. A WECS Application determination will not be made until all costs incurred by the Town to date have been reimbursed by the applicant.
- (d) If the WECS Application is denied or withdrawn, all Escrow Account funds shall be returned to the applicant, less related expenses incurred by the Town. The funds shall be returned, along with a statement as of the costs incurred, within 30 days of the Application being formally denied, or receipt of a Letter of Withdrawal. Application and Permit Fees are non-refundable.
- (e) The Escrow Account shall be funded during the life of the WECS by the Applicant/Owner/Operator. The Applicant/Owner/Operator shall replenish any Escrow funds used by the Town within 14 days of being sent written notification, with explanation, of authorized withdrawals. Failure to maintain the Escrow Account at \$35,000.00 within 30 days of notice shall be cause for revocation (or denial of renewal) of the WECS Permit.
- (f) Once the Applicant/ Owner/ Operator believes that the decommissioning conditions, as set forth herein, have been satisfactorily complied with the decommissioning conditions, they shall send the Town written notification. The Town then has 90 days to verify that all of the decommissioning conditions have been satisfied. If there is material noncompliance, the Town shall notify the Applicant/ Owner/ Operator and the process will start over. Otherwise, the Town shall return all Escrow Account funds to the Applicant/ Owner/ Operator, less related expenses incurred by the Town, along with explanatory statements/invoices.
- (2) Road remediation. The applicant shall be responsible for the remediation of any public roads or other public property damaged during the construction of and/or completion of the installation (or removal) of any WECS projects approved pursuant to this Article. The Code Enforcement Officer is hereby authorized and directed to ensure a public improvement (road repairs) bond, subject to the same bond ratings and financial surety requirements as the decommissioning bond, be posted prior to the issuance of any building permit in an amount sufficient to compensate the Town for any damage to local roads that is not corrected by the applicant. The Highway Superintendent or Town Engineer is authorized to consult with any necessary professional to determine or confirm the bond amount at the sole cost and expense of the applicant. The applicant shall, upon authorization by the Town Code Enforcement Officer, file and record the original performance bond in the Town Clerk's Office.
- N. Application Fee, Professional Fees, PILOT and Host Community Benefit Agreement.
  - (1) Non-refundable Application Fees shall be established and amended by resolution of the Town Board.
  - (2) Special Use Permits and Site Plan. The review of permits for WECS require expertise and shall require the Town to engage the services of professional consultants such as attorneys and engineers, the expenses for which cannot be accurately established in advance. Therefore, in addition to the above, the applicant shall be responsible for all of the Town's reasonable expenses incurred in the permit review process including the review required by SEQRA, and the costs of decommissioning the WECS and such expenses may include, but are not limited to, all

# Town of Eaton, NYTown Council Regular Monthly MeetingDecember 12th, 2023administrative costs, attorneys' fees and engineering fees, and the applicant shall be required to<br/>enter into an escrow agreement with the Town in advance of such review to provide for the<br/>payment of such costs and expenses of review as agreed by the parties.

- (3) In every instance of a WECS application, the applicant shall be required to propose a Payment in Lieu of Tax ("PILOT") Agreement. The applicant shall also comply with the notice requirements of NYS Real Property Tax Law Section 487. The applicant shall contact the Town's legal counsel to negotiate the terms of said Agreement.
- (4) In addition to a PILOT Agreement, the applicant shall propose to the Town, on WECS projects involving one (1)megawatt and above of rated energy output capacity, a Host Community Agreement benefit package for consideration by the Town Board as part of the approval process. Once the application package materials are deemed complete and while the Planning Board is completing its review, the project/application shall be referred to the Town Board to decide on the completion and terms of a Host Community Agreement. This Agreement shall be in addition to a PILOT Agreement.
- O. Inspections.
  - (1) WECS shall not begin operation until all approvals required under this Article have been obtained and all required certifications are provided.
  - (2) Following the issuance of any approval required under this Article, the Planning Board or its designee shall have the right to enter onto the site upon which a WECS has been placed, at reasonable times to inspect such facility and its compliance with this Article and any approval and included conditions.
  - (3) After undertaking such inspection, the Planning Board or its designated representative shall provide notice of any non-compliance with the terms of this Article or the conditions of approval of any permit issued hereunder, and shall provide the Applicant/ Owner/ Operator with a reasonable time frame to cure such violation, such timeframe to be determined based upon the seriousness of the violation, its impact upon public safety, and the impact of the violation upon residents of the Town.
- P. Construction Related Damage.

The owner of every WECS constructed pursuant to this Article shall repair or replace all real or personal property, public or private, damaged during the construction of such facility attributable to the applicant or its designee, employee, or agent.

Q. Fiscal Responsibility.

No transfer of any WECS or permit, or sale of the entity owning such facility, including the sale of more than 30% of the stock of such entity (not counting the sale of shares on a public exchange) shall occur without written acceptance by such entity of the obligations of the permittee under this Section and the terms of the permit. Any such transfer shall not eliminate the liability of any entity for any act occurring during its ownership or status as permittee.

R. Certification.

### Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023

Prior to the operation of any approved and constructed WECS, the applicant must provide a certification that the project complies with applicable codes, industry practices and conditions of approval, where applicable.

S. Made in America Requirements.

All WECS shall be required to use components and materials made and manufactured in the United States of America.

Section 120-23.16 Wind Measurement Towers.

- A. Wind Site Assessments. As a wind site assessment is typically conducted to determine the wind speeds and the feasibility of using particular sites, installation of Wind Measurement Towers, also known as anemometer ("Met") towers, shall be permitted in accordance with this Section and the provisions of Section 120-23.15, subject to approval by the Planning Board.
- B. Applications for Wind Measurement Towers. An application for a Wind Measurement Tower shall include, unless waived by the Planning Board, the following:
  - (1) Name, address, and telephone number of the applicant. If the applicant is represented by an agent, the application shall include the name, address, and telephone number of the agent as well as an original signature of the applicant authorizing the representation.
  - (2) Name, address, and telephone number of the property owner.
  - (3) If the property owner is not the applicant, the application shall include written permission signed by the property owner confirming that the property owner is familiar with the proposed application and authorizing the submission of the application.
  - (4) Address of each proposed tower location, including Tax Map section, block, and lot number.
  - (5) Proposed Development Plan and Map.
  - (6) Decommissioning Plan, including cash security for removal and restoration.
- C. Standards for Wind Measurement Towers.
  - (1) The distance between a Wind Measurement Tower and the property line shall be at least one point five (1.5) times the Total Height of the tower. Sites can include more than one piece of property and the requirement shall apply to the combined properties. Exceptions for neighboring property are also allowed with the consent of those property owners.
  - (2) Special use permits for Wind Measurement Towers may be issued for a period of up to two (2) years. Permits shall be renewable upon application to the Planning Board in accordance with the procedure of this Article.

Section 120-23.17 Small Wind Energy Conversion Systems.

# Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023

- A. Purpose and Intent. The purpose of this Section is to provide standards for small wind energy conversion systems (hereinafter referred to as "SWECS") designed to produce electrical power for home, farm, and small commercial use on the same parcel the SWECS is installed on, and that are primarily used to reduce consumption of utility power at that location. Such SWECS shall have a generated capacity of up to but not exceeding 100 kilowatts. The intent of this Section is to provide for the development of small wind energy systems while also protecting the public health, safety, and community welfare.
- B. Permits Required. No person, firm or corporation, or other entity being the owner or occupant of any land or premises within the Town of Eaton shall use or permit the use of land or premises for the construction of a SWECS without obtaining a special use permit issued by the Planning Board as hereinafter provided.
- C. Districts Where Allowed. Subject to the issuance of a special use permit and a building permit, SWECS are allowed in all zoning districts in the Town except within the Residential District No. 2 (RD-2).
- D. Applications. Applications for Small WECS Permits shall include, unless waived by the Planning Board, the following:
  - (1) Name, address, and telephone number of the applicant. If the applicant is represented by an agent, the name, address, and telephone number of the agent as well as an original signature of the applicant authorizing the agent to represent the applicant.
  - (2) Name, address, and telephone number of the property owner. If the property owner is not the applicant, the application shall include written permission signed by the property owner confirming that the property owner is familiar with the proposed applications and authorizing the submission of the application.
  - (3) A description of the project, including the address of each proposed tower location, including Tax Map section, block, and lot number, and the maximum rated capacity of each SWECS.
  - (4) Documentation from the manufacturer that the proposed tower height does not exceed the height recommended by the manufacturer or distributor of the system.
  - (5) A line drawing of the electrical components of the system in sufficient detail to allow for a determination that the manner of installation conforms to the Building Code of the State of New York and sufficient information demonstrating that the system will be used primarily to reduce consumption of electricity at that location.
  - (6) A site plan prepared by a licensed surveyor or engineer drawn in sufficient detail to clearly describe and depict the SWECS components relative to all other existing and proposed structures and property lines.
  - (7) Written evidence that the electric utility service provider that serves the proposed site has been informed of the applicant's intent to install an interconnected customer-owned electricity generator, unless the applicant does not so plan and states such in the application, to connect the system to the electricity grid.
  - (8) A visual analysis of the SWECS as installed, which may include a computerized photographic simulation, demonstrating the visual impacts from nearby strategic vantage points. The visual

Town of Eaton, NYTown Council Regular Monthly MeetingDecember 12th, 2023analysis shall also indicate the color treatment of the system's components, and any visual<br/>screening incorporated into the project that is intended to lessen the system's visual<br/>prominence.

- E. Development Standards. All SWECS shall comply with the following standards. Additionally, such systems shall also comply with all the requirements established by other provisions of this Article that are not in conflict with the requirements contained in this Section.
  - (1) Only one (1) small wind energy system tower per legal lot shall be allowed, unless there are multiple applicants, in which case their joint lots shall be treated as one lot for the purposes of this Section.
  - (2) SWECS shall be used primarily to reduce the on-site consumption of electricity.
  - (3) Tower heights may be allowed as follows:
    - (a) 65 feet or less on parcels between one (1) and five (5) acres,
    - (b) 80 feet or less on parcels of five (5) or more acres.
  - (4) The maximum turbine power output is limited to 100 KW.
  - (5) The system's tower and blades shall be painted a non-reflective, unobtrusive color that blends the system and its components into the surrounding landscape to the greatest extent possible and incorporate nonreflective surfaces to minimize any visual disruption.
  - (6) The system shall be designed and located in such a manner to minimize adverse visual impacts from public viewing areas.
  - (7) Exterior lighting on any structure associated with the system shall not be allowed except that which is specifically required by the Federal Aviation Administration.
  - (8) All on-site electrical wires associated with the system shall be installed underground except for "tie-ins" to a public utility company and public utility company transmission poles, towers, and lines. This standard may be modified by the Planning Board if the project terrain is determined to be unsuitable due to reasons of excessive grading, biological impacts, or similar factors.
  - (9) The system shall be operated such that no disruptive electromagnetic interference is caused.
  - (10) If it has been demonstrated that a system is causing harmful interference, the system operator shall promptly mitigate the harmful interference or cease operation of the system.
  - (11) At least one sign shall be posted on the tower at a height of five (5) feet warning of electrical shock or high voltage and harm from revolving machinery. No brand names, logo or advertising shall be placed or painted on the tower rotor, generator or tail vain where it would be visible from the ground, except that a system or motor's manufacturer's logo may be displayed on the system generator housing in an unobtrusive manner.
  - (12) Towers shall be constructed to provide one of the following means of access control, or other appropriate method of access:

- (a) Tower-climbing apparatus located no closer than 12 feet from the ground.
- (b) A locked anti-climb device installed on the tower.
- (c) A locked, protective fence at least six (6) feet in height that encloses the tower.
- (13) Anchor points for any guy wires for a system tower shall be located within the property that the system is located on and not on or across any above ground electric transmission or distribution lines. The point of attachment for the guy wires shall be enclosed by a fence six (6) feet high or sheathed in bright orange or yellow covering from three (3) to eight (8) feet above the ground.
- (14) Construction of on-site access roadways shall be minimized. Temporary access roads used for initial installation shall be re-graded and re-vegetated to the pre-existing natural condition after installation is complete.
- (15) To prevent harmful wind turbulence from existing structures, the minimum height of the lowest part of any horizontal axis wind turbine blade shall be at least 30 feet above the highest structure or tree within a 250-foot radius. Modification of this standard may be made when the applicant demonstrates that a lower height will not jeopardize the safety of the wind turbine structure.
- (16) All small wind energy system tower structures shall be designed and constructed to be in compliance with pertinent provisions of the Uniform Fire Prevention and Building Code.
- (17) All small wind energy systems shall be equipped with manual and automatic over-speed controls. The conformance of rotor and over-speed control design and fabrication with good engineering practices shall be certified by the manufacturer. The applicant shall post an emergency telephone number so that the appropriate entities may be contacted should the SWECS need immediate repair or attention. This telephone number should be clearly visible on a permanent structure or post located outside of the fall zone of the tower. Location should be convenient and readily noticeable to someone likely to detect a problem.
- (18) Ownership of the SWECS must be the same as the owner of the fee interest in the real property upon which it is situated. In the event of transfer of ownership of the premises, the ownership of the wind energy conversion system must also be transferred to the same owner, or the tower must be decommissioned.
- (19) Setback requirements. A SWECS shall not be located closer to a property line, dwelling, or structure occupied by humans or animals, than one point five (1.5) times the Total Height of the facility.
- (20) Noise. Except during short-term events including utility outages and severe windstorms, a SWECS shall be designed, installed, and operated so that noise generated by the system shall not exceed ambient noise levels (exclusive of the development proposed) by more than six (6) dBA at the nearest property line to any proposed SWECS. Sites can include more than one piece of property and the requirement shall apply to the combined properties. In the event the ambient sound pressure level exceeds 50 dBA, the standard shall be ambient dBA plus a

Town of Eaton, NYTown Council Regular Monthly MeetingDecember 12th, 2023maximum of five (5) dBA.Independent certification shall be provided before and after<br/>construction demonstrating compliance with this requirement.

- F. Inspections. The Code Enforcement Officer and/or Town Engineer shall have the right at any reasonable time to enter, in the company of the owner or their agent, the premises on which a wind energy conversion system is being or is constructed, to inspect all parts of said wind energy conversion system installation and require that repairs or alterations be made if in their judgment, there exists a deficiency in the operation or the structural stability of the system. If necessary, the Code Enforcement Officer or Town Engineer may order the system secured or to otherwise cease operation. It shall not be required that the owner or agent be present in the event of an emergency situation involving danger to life, limb, or property.
- G. Insurance. The applicant, owner, lessee or assignee shall maintain a current insurance policy which shall cover installation and operation of the on-site use wind energy conversion system at all times. Said policy shall provide a minimum of \$2,000,000.00 property and personal liability coverage.
- H. Fees. Fees for applications and permits under this Section shall be established by resolution of the Town Board of the Town of Eaton. It shall be the applicant's responsibility to reimburse the Town for any and all reasonable and necessary legal, engineering and other professional fees incurred by the Town in reviewing and administering an application under this Section.
- I. Abandonment of Use.
- (1) A SWECS which is not used for 12 successive months shall be deemed abandoned and shall be dismantled and removed from the property at the expense of the property owner. Failure to abide by and faithfully comply with this section or with any and all conditions that may be attached to the granting of any building permit shall constitute grounds for the revocation of the permit by the Planning Board. If not removed within 90 days from revocation, weather permitting, the Town shall have the right to remove the SWECS at the owner's expense. A decommissioning bond in a form acceptable to the Town shall be filed with the Town Clerk to cover the costs of the complete removal of the SWECS and shall not be allowed to lapse or terminate. Such bond shall be in place prior to the issuance of a building permit.
- (2) All SWECS shall be maintained in good condition and in accordance with all requirements of this Section.

Section 120-23.18 Enforcement; Penalties and remedies for violations.

- A. The Town Board, Town Code Enforcement Officer and such Town staff or outside consultants as appointed by the Town Board shall administer and enforce this Article.
- B. Any person owning, controlling or managing any building, structure or land who shall undertake a Wind Energy Facility in violation of this Article or in noncompliance with the terms and conditions of any permit issued pursuant to this Article, or any order of the Code Enforcement Officer, and any person who shall assist in so doing, shall be guilty of an offense and subject to a fine of not

# Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023 more than \$250.00 Every such person shall be deemed guilty of a separate offense for each day

more than \$250.00. Every such person shall be deemed guilty of a separate offense for each day such violation shall continue. The Town may institute a civil proceeding to collect civil penalties in the amount of \$250.00 for each violation and each day said violation continues shall be deemed a separate violation.

- C. In case of any violation, or threatened violation, of any of the provisions of this Article, including the terms and conditions imposed by any permit issued pursuant to this Article, in addition to other remedies and penalties herein provided, the Town may institute any appropriate action or proceeding to prevent such unlawful erection, structural alteration, reconstruction, moving and/or use, and to restrain, correct or abate such violation, to prevent the illegal act.
- D. An Applicant/Owner/Operator not responding to the following condition in the manner specified shall be considered to be in violation of this Article.
  - (1) Unsafe Operation/ Condition. If a Wind Turbine, or WECS/SWECS, presents an imminent physical threat of damage to life or significant threat to property, as determined by the Code Enforcement Officer, Town Board, or one of their designated agents, it shall be deemed unsafe and immediately shut down and repaired or otherwise made safe and certified so by a New York licensed Professional Engineer approved by the Town Board prior to resumption of operation. The Code Enforcement Officer, or their agent/designee, shall have the right to access the WECS/SWECS to verify conditions and/or progress of repair.
  - (2) Serious Violations. The Applicant/Owner/Operator of the WECS/SWECS is responsible for mitigating any serious violations of standards within ten (10) business days upon receipt of written notification of determination of any cause attributed to operation of the WECS/SWECS. A serious violation is defined as any of the following:
    - (a) Any measured Noise Level which exceeds the standard specified herein or an approval where the Wind Turbine(s) or ancillary facility is the dominant and controlling source.
    - (b) The occurrence of Shadow Flicker, Tower Shadowing or Blade Glint exceeds the standards specified in this Article or an approval.
    - (c) Degradation or contamination exceeding US Environmental Protection Agency standards of any surface or subsurface water resource. In the case of degradation or contamination of a well, the obligation for mitigation shall be deemed satisfied if the Applicant/Owner/Operator immediately provides the affected well owner with a potable emergency water supply and within 30 days commences implementation of corrective measures to the satisfaction of the well owner and subject to the approval of the Planning Board.
    - (d) Any hazardous substance spill.
    - (e) Communication/electromagnetic interference (other than emergency communication).

- (3) Emergency Communications. Interference with communications must be mitigated within 24 hours.
- (4) Other Violations. If the Code Enforcement Officer or Town Board determines that a violation of this Article has occurred, and the violation is determined neither to be unsafe, nor a serious violation, nor interferes with emergency communication, the Officer or Town Board shall provide written notice to the Applicant/ Owner/ Operator, and the Applicant/ Owner/Operator is responsible for mitigating the problem within 30 days.
- E. An Applicant/Owner/Operator not in compliance with any provision of this Article by failing to resolve a violation may be subject to:
  - (1) Revocation of WECS/SWECS permits, shut down and removal of any Wind Turbines;
  - (2) Fines pursuant to this Section;
  - (3) Any other remedies the Town Board deems necessary to assure the safe operation of the WECS/SWECS and protection of residents; and
  - (4) Reimbursement to the Town for expenses incurred in obtaining relief, including, but not limited to, court costs and reasonable attorney fees."

### **SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY**

If the provisions of any article, section, subsection, paragraph, subdivision, or clause of this Local Law shall be judged invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such order of judgment shall not affect or invalidate the remainder of any article, section, subsection, paragraph, subdivision, or clause of this Local Law.

### SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE.

This Local Law shall be effective upon filing with the Office of the Secretary of State."

The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote and upon roll call, the

vote was as follows:

David Verne	Councilor	Voted	Yes
Jean Hilts	Councilor	Voted	Yes
Stephen Dickerson	Councilor	Voted	Yes
Jeff Golley	Councilor	Voted	Yes
Joseph Wicks	Supervisor	Voted	Yes

The foregoing resolution was thereupon declared duly adopted.

### DATED: December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023

### **CERTIFICATE**

### **STATE OF NEW YORK** ) **COUNTY OF MADISON** )

I, the undersigned Clerk of the Town of Eaton, Madison County, New York, DO HEREBY CERTIFY:

That I have compared the foregoing Resolution with the original thereof on file in the Office of the

Town Clerk of the Town of Eaton, and that the same is a true and correct copy of said original and of the whole

of said original so far as the same relates to the subject matters therein referred to.

I FURTHER CERTIFY that all members of said Board had due notice of said meeting and that,

pursuant to Section 103 of the Public Officers Law, said meeting was open to the general public.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of said Town on

December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023.

Motion by Councilperson Hilts authorizing Justice Highers attendance at the "Taking the Bench" training in Albany, NY December 11, 2023 - December 15, 2023 and reimbursement for all associated costs Second by Councilperson Golley. All Ayes. Motion Carried.

Motion by Councilperson Dickerson Authorizing Town Clerk to Shred/Destroy Expired Abstracts, Banking, Financials and Monthly Reports. per the NYS LGS-1 as described in attached document. Second by Councilperson Verne. All Ayes. Motion Carried.

DEPT	Major Header	Sub-Heading	PAGE #s	LGS-1 SECTION	Years	Description	Details	RETENTION
Supvsr	FISCAL	List of Abstract…	125	513	2017	Abstract of vouchers	Abstract of audited vouchers for payment	6 years
Supvsr	FISCAL	Claims and Warrants	123	495	2017	Claims for payment	Vouchers and bills	6 years
Supvsr	FISCAL	Banking and Investment	119	475	2017	Banking Communications	Bank statements, reconciliations, etc.	6 years
Supvsr	FISCAL	Banking and Investment	120	482	2017	Deposit Slips	Deposit Slips	6 years

Town of I	Town of Eaton, NY Town Council Regular Monthly Meeting			December 12	<sup>th</sup> , <b>2023</b>			
Supvsr	FISCAL	Banking and Investment	120	478	2017	Copy of Check or check stub	documents accompanying deposit slips	6 years
Supvsr	FISCAL	Reports	133	555	2017	Daily, weekly, monthly, etc fiscal reports	Monthly reports for town board	6 years

Motion by Councilperson Hilts to offer designated Roth contributions through the New York State Deferred Compensation Plan, as required by the Secure Act 2.0. Second by Councilperson Golley. All Ayes. Motion Carried.

Motion by Councilperson Golley granting authority to Superintendent Phillips to award 2024 Fuel Bid to Broedel Fuel Group. Second by Councilperson Verne. All Ayes. Motion Carried.

**FUEL BIDS:** Opening of Fuel Oil/Diesel Fuel Bids & Resolution to Select Successful Bidder Superintendent Larry Phillips proficiently opened the bids and read them aloud. Two bids were received: Broedel Fuel Group and Buell Fuels. Bids are posted on website and originals on file with Town Clerk.

Motion Councilperson Verne to reappoint Marie L. Smith to the Board of Assessment Review effective December 12<sup>th</sup>, 2023 – Sept 30<sup>th</sup>, 2028. Second Councilperson Hilts. All Ayes. Motion Carried.

Motion by Councilperson Dickerson to give authority to Supervisor Wicks to move monies within 2023 Budget to keep all lines in balance. Second by Councilperson Golley. All Ayes. Motion carried

# **Budget Transfers for December 2023**

Appropriation Over Budget	<b>Amount</b>	<u>Transfer from</u>
A1355.4 (Assessor Contractual)	\$82.00	A9040.8 Workers Comp Ins
A1410.4 (Town Clerk Contractual)	\$130.00	A9040.8 Workers Comp Ins
A1420.4 (Attorney Contractual)	\$2,000.00	A9901.9 Bldg Capital Improv
A1620.4 (Buildings Contractual)	\$1,200.00	A9040.8 Workers Comp Ins
A5010.4 (Superintendent Contractual)	\$50.00	A1990.4 Contingency
A5132.4 (Garage Contractual)	\$1,021.00	A9901.9 Bldg Capital Improv
A9050.8 (Unemployment Insurance)	\$200.00	A9040.8 Workers Comp Ins

Motion by Councilperson Golley granting authority to Supervisor Wicks to move monies from 2023 Budget Resolution to Appropriate ARPA funds. Second by Councilperson Hilts. All Ayes. Motion Carried.

# To allocate American Rescue Plan Act funds

Town of Eaton, NY	Town Council Regular Month	nly Meeting	December 12 <sup>th</sup> , 2023		
	Account	Subsidiary Account	Debit	Credit	
A522 Expenditures			\$1,839.00		
A7110.4 Parks Contractual		\$1,839.00			
A200 Cash				\$1,839.00	
	Account	Subsidiary Account	Debit	Credit	
A688 Other Liabilities			\$1,839.00		
A980 Revenues				\$1,839.00	
A4089 Federal Aid, Other		\$1,839.00			

### PAY THE BILLS: Abstract # 12-2023

General A Fund	No.	174	through	192	8,543.57
General B Fund Part Town	No.	46	through	48	332.73
Street Lighting SL	No.	12	through	12	714.74
Highway Fund Townwide DA	No.	92	through	95	2,042.25
Highway Fund Part Town DB	No.	30	through	30	2,614.07
			Total		\$ 14,247.36

After review of Abstract 12 Councilperson Verne made a Motion to accept and pay the bills. Second by Councilperson Dickerson. All Ayes. Motion carried.

# ADJOURNMENT:

With no further business to bring before the Board, Councilperson Dickerson moved to adjourn, Second by Councilperson Hilts. All ayes. Motion carried. Meeting adjourned at 7:04 pm

Respectfully Submitted, Dean Curtis, Town Clerk/Tax Collector